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The History Of Soapstone

Soapstone United Methodist Church has an incredible history filled with faith, perseverance,
courage, and response to God’s call. Ours is a story that forms a foundation as strong as our
namesake stone, running rock-solid beneath us.

Imagine a conviction as strong as Soapstone. The original Soapstone Church site at 10301 Old
Creedmoor Road served as the setting for camp meetings held prior to the church’s chartering in
1837. People from miles around made their way on foot or by horse and wagon to enjoy
fellowship and gather inspiration from the circuit riders. Early church structures were crafted of
wooden logs, and served as a meeting and worship place. But as the years passed, membership
declined, and the church was closed around the time of World War II

In 1950, efforts began to reopen Soapstone Church. Electricity, gas heating, two Sunday School
rooms were added, and the church officially reopened a year later with students from Duke
Divinity School serving as student pastors. In the early 1970’s membership declined prompting a
handful of families and individuals, small but mighty in their efforts, to organize a community-
wide home visitation in the area. Prayers were answered as membership again began to grow.

By 1986, thirty-five years after reopening its doors, Soapstone was a thriving church, and grants
were given for a full-time pastor to be appointed. Soon membership swelled and the church
quickly outgrew its facilities. The 102 members of Soapstone voted in 1988 to purchase 8.77 acres
of land on the northwest corner of Norwood and Old Creedmoor Road. Ground-breaking for the
new site was held two years later. An education wing with eight classrooms was added in 1995,
and a parsonage was purchased in 1997.

With new facilities, a booming community, and a committed membership and staff, the Soapstone
family has soared to more than 700. But God isn’t finished with this congregation! The next
chapter in Soapstone’s history is being written based on the same rock-solid commitment of
previous Soapstone generations. May we give the next generation of Soapstone a new example of
faith and hope in times of opportunity and challenge.






SOAPSTONE, anm area of relling hills and meandering
creeks, got its name from the scapstone rock formations in
the area. Boapstone was +irst a camp mesting site, but it
ie not known exactly what yvear this began, it is known that
one acre on which a meeting house was already built on, was
deeded by a Willis Goodwin on Jduly 12, 1837, Trustees
receiving thise desd were, Mathaniel Warren, fnderson Page,

John K. Moore, GOesorge éAlston and Belomon Rledsoe, and the
mesting house was officially named Bospstone.

According to Mrs. Ina 7. Ayscue, this church building
that stands here at present is the thl“d building, the first
two pbuilt from logs. ’

Soapstone Church wes in The FRaleigh Disetrict on the
Millbrook ~ Rolesville Circuit from 1849 tol%27, Soapstone
Church was taken from the Raleigh District as part of
Ardrews — Masseys Chapel Circuit. Later, these were placed

with Dukes Chapel Church, forming the Duke Circuit.
Sometimes atter 1937, Socapstone closed. No records could be
found specifying the date, but according to Fathleen Mipper,
it was about 1%3%. The reason for closing is somewhat
vague, but according to persons who wersg members at that
time, it was closed due to the passing away of some faithful
members, and some moving from the community.

In 1980, efforts began for the recpening of thi
church. FRev. Forest pNesse and Fev. Seorge Megill canvwaaed
the community to see if there were people interested in
Scapstone Chuwrch being recpened. James and Sadis Avscus bhad
moved to community, and were attending a Baptist Church.
Fev, Megill hearing they weres Methodist visited them to see
if they would be interested in helping re-activate
Soapstone. Being Methodist, they talked to some of the
older members, much enthusiasm was expressed. The Ayscue’s
aleng with, Ina T. Ayscue, Elvis and Maggie Layton ( Zula L.
Foole's parents ) attended Charge Conterence held at
Fietchers Chapel. &t this time, Scapstone was put on the
charge with Andrews Chapel and Fletchers Chapel. In 19355,
Fletchers Chapel became strong enough for a full time
pastor, Soapstone and Andrews Chapel became a charge.

FRenovation began to improve the church building. The
chuwreh building was wired for electricity, the pulpit was
made larger, two Sunday School class rooms added, and the
Tloor refinished. A wond stove had provided heat until this
point, a gas hesating system was installed.
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The church membesrship began to grow. From the 1950°s
to the 19460°'¢ the church was sctive., providing spiritual
growth in the rwral community. During revival services,
chairs were placed in the isle to accommodate people
attending these serv*cmm Wednesday night praver EﬁVV1 &y
Womens Sooiety of Christiasn Service, and Sunday School, were

much & part of outreach in the communiity. Christmas
paqmant e with Santa giving out fruit and candy to all
children, and Ohristmas Carcling to the shut-ine, made
Christmas a memorable experignce. Also, pounding the
prescier was & custom in thosse davs. (Cured hame and staple
goode?  The youth group. then called the MJY.F. (Methodist
Youth Fellowship) was the most active group in the church,
with about Z2 mem and sometimes more attending. Total
ot the roll in 1960 was &2,

During the sarly 1960 = these voung people married, and
ieft the community. = families moved away. The death
of some caused fami different directions. in
the mid 1940°'= atten r oto decline, due to deaths
and familis=zs movi vimg the chwch for various
FEASONS.

The sarly 1%70'=s the members struggled to heep
Soapstone Church alive. Much love and devotion were evident
cduring these vears. FRenovation continued, new windows,
pulpit and center isle carpeted fTloor refinished, altar
rails and curtains added. meobile class rooms, replaced roof,
seasonal paraments and Guest Book.

The power of praver was shown to members of Sospstaone
Church during the late 1%70's. The Rev., Randy Wall, led a
community wide wvisitation. HRev. Wall and chwch members,
visited every home in the area. SHeeds were planted, and
prayers answered. In the year 1978 the chwcech membership
began to go up.

In the 1980 s attendance continuing to increase. The
area growing with various subdivisions, Scapstone attracted
some of these familiess into its fellowship. Additional
communion service., candle and vase set, well, coat of
exterior paint, hand rail, airconditioning and heating
svstem , pulpit furnituwre and pews and landscaping . Many
improvements were made and all not mentioned.
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Rev. Huskins came to the Andrews — Soapstone Charge in

the vear, 1981, He saw the reed and the possibility faor
Soapstone to become a church with its own minister and to
become a part of the FRaleigh District. He worked hard to see
that thise would take place and on March 53D, 1%8& a brisf
mesting conducted by the Rev. Wallace Hirbwy, Durbham District
Supt. was held., Boapstone would have & full time minister
and be in the Releigh District.

Boapstone was outgrowing its facilities. Surveyvs and
studies were in progress te make plans for the future. Mary

s

ideas were presented and carefull consideration of sach one
was important. The tension grew heavy for the right decision
must be made in order to keep the church members in harmony
and, also, serve the community in the bhest way possible.

Rev. Hope Morgan Ward, ceme to Soapstone in June, 198646.
Fev. Ward continued on with the work FHev. Huskins had begun.
& bulliding committes was formed . On January I3, 1988,
Charge Conference was held after worship service. The
building commities presented an agresment to purchase 8.77
acres of land., The land located at the northwest corner of
Morwood Rd. and Old Creedmoor R, . Twenbty five voting
members voted ¥e purchase the land., An architect firm was

selected and plans continued. The first phase site plan and
master plan was presented on, April 30, 1937, and accepted

-

with forty seven members voting. fhe building commitites is
working with the architect ironing out problems and hoping
to bresk ground in the spring of 19%0.



This wvear 1‘3‘84, we continus to sse many changes in
Soapstone Thuaroh The chwrch continuss o 1
membership. Tha pressnt membership i; 102, Confirmation
classes are held each spring, bringing our children into the
Churchh family. The area swrrounding the Church is growing
rapidly. From this growth we have gained members by
transfer and baptisem. Family names found upon the roll in
1784 imclude, Avecue, Cable, Allen, Chatham, Johnson,
Mipper, Fowler, White, Wahlen, Hair, Gaac, F tehy Thomas
Moors, Backus, Henney, Jackson, Howsrd, Fleilschhauer,
Needham, BRarlow, Seagroves, Foole and Beck.
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SOAFSTONE, is still a small church with a& rural

[ ¢n119b of childrern running happily in the vard,
people with all different occcupations, but one common bond
of love for mankind. We are cpen for changes, who knows
what the next step might be.

Sadie Avscue
Jean #A. Mipper

Churechn Historians — 1984






Prefeace

Somewhere I recall hearirg the story of & mother who was
going through the traume of her only child leaving home to go
out and fece the world on his own. As her only child welked out
the door, the mother told her son, "Son, don*t ever forzet where
you ceame from."™ How important for we as people to remember.
where we heve come from. It was this spirit of wenting to know
one®s past that led the writer Alex Haley from the Bureau of
Archives in Wesghington, D.C. across the ocean to dark Africa as
he searched for his own ngia.

It has been important since the beginning of Christianity
for God*s people to remember:where they came frem. In Acts 7,
when the disciple Stephen preaches before the Jews, he remindé
them end himself of where Christianity ceme from as he recites
the Qld Testament past. T¥Yet, it is not just ioportant for‘us
to remember what God did in the days of Abreham end Stephen, but
it is also important for individual Christians to remember what'
God has done more recently in the life and history of their own
local churchJ kThis importance of kmowing where ome's local church
has come from has provided the motivation for this history of
Soapstone Church.,

I do not contend that this history of Soapstone Church is
complete., Information contained herein is somewnat brief and
sketchy beceuse through the years the records and persons that },c“
much of the history of Soapstone Church have disappeared. The

1



resources thet were available +to help compile & history of
Soapstone Church either were brief ir the information they
contained or they only covered a particular period of the
Ichurch's history. Ibspite'the incompleteness of this history,
I do think it is significent beczuse it is the first history
ever written of Soapstore Church.

It is always appropiate to express one's gratitude to those
persons that 2id in an effort such as this. I wish to thank
those persons in Soapstone Church that imparted to me the
information they kmew about Soapstone's past and gave me the
time and expressed the interest that made this project psssible.
Last but certainlﬁ not least, I would 1liks té thenk my wife and

young deughter who suffered through my preoccupation with this

project.

Rev, Randy L. V&ll
Aungust, 1978



Church Origin

Little can be said in a concreie manner about when Soapstone
Church originated as a place of worship. Before Soepstorne Church
weas affiliated with Methodism, it was & cenp meeting place where
Christians would come together for days and nights of relizious
worship and fellowship. The earliest church deed dates %o the
1850s. That deed does specify that the church was Hethodist at
that t¥ime., There is the possibility, however, that the church
can be dated back farther than the 1830s. Rev. Franklin Grill
hzs done soze study about early ilethodism in VYeke County, Accord-
ing to Grill, land in 1817 was deeded to & Stony Hill leeting
Place. One of the individuals signing as a trustee on this deed
was & lr. Bailey. Iromically, his name also eppears on the first
deed off Soapstone Church. The 1end described in the 1817 deed of
Stony Hill Meeting Place is similiar to the land of Soapstone
Church. Therefore, it is possible that Stony Hill Meeting Place
is whet was kmown in the 1830s as Soapstone liethodist Church,

It is not khown when Soapstone Church became affiliated with
the Methodist Church. Ewvidence points to Soapstone Church becomimg
Methodist sometime between 1828 and the early 1830s. This is
based upon church records which state that in 1831 & Mary ¥W. Jones,
a member of Soapstore Church, died. lary Jones is said to have
been coxwertéd at a camp meeting.at Soapstore 68 years befare 1891,

that year being 1828. Therefore, Soapstone was known as & camp



meeting in 1828 end must have become lethodist between 1828

and the eearly 1830%s.

- Interest is always expressed by persons unfamilier with
Soapstone Church ebout its ﬁnusnal.name. It appears that the
name of the church was tzken from the vein of soapstone rock
that the church sits upon. Discussion has arisen in the Church's
past about the possibility of cheanging the name of the church,

but such actiom has never been taken.



Charges that Soapstone Church has been apart of

Beco:ds were not accessible to document what charges that
Soapstone Church was apart of before 1869, From 1869-1926,
Soapstone Ckurch was apart of the Millbrook-Bolesville Circuit,

From 1869-1894, this circuit wes known es the Rolesville Circuit.
In 1894, the Quarterly Conference recommended to the Bishop that
the neme of the circuit be changed from Rolesville to Millbrook.
After 1894, this charge was krnown as the Millbrook Circuit. There
were several other churches that were on the circuit with Soapstone
Church, indlnding Andrews Chepel Church, Pleesarnt Grove Church, and
Millbrook Churche |

In 1926, Soapstone Church elorng with Andrews Chapel Church
and Pleasnmat Grove Church was tazken from the Millbrook Circuit
to form the Andrews-Pleasant Grove Circuit. However, Soapstore
was only apart of this charge for ore year becsuse in 1927 Soapstone
Church was agaim placed on the Millbrook Circuit. Later in 1927,
Soapstone Church along with Andrews Chapel Church was taken from
11i11brook Circuit in the Raleigh District and placed in the Durham
District as apart of the Andrews-Masseys Chapel Gircﬁit. Prior to
1927, Soepstone Church had alweys been in the Raleigh District.
After its move to the Durham District in 1927, Soapstorne Church has
always remeined in thet district.

lasseys Chapel wes taken from the Andrews-llasseys Chapel
Circuit in 1928, Durirg that year, Soapstone wes apart of a circuit
with Apdrews Chapel kmown a8 Andrews-Soapstone Circuit. Messeys Chepd




Was again placed with Soapstone and Andrews Chapel in 1931 to
form & circukXt kmown as the Andrews-ﬁasséys Chapel Circuit.,
‘Soapstore Church remained apart of the Andrews-llesseys Circuit
ti1l 1934 when Sozpstone Church, along with Andrews, was placed
with Dukes Chepel Church to form the Duke Circuit. Soapstone Caurch
only remained Epart of this circuit for ore year, for in 1935
Soapstore Church was again placed with Andrews and Uasseys Chapel
to form the Andrews-Masseys Circuit. However, in 1937 Soapstore
and Andrews were again placed with Dukes Chepel Church to form the
Duke Circuit,

Yhen Soapstone Church was reopened in 1950, it became apart
of the Andrews-Fletbhers Charge. In 1655, Fletchers Chapel Church
ﬁecame & strong enough church to support & pastor by themself. There-~
fore, Soapstoﬁe Chnrcﬁfalong with Andrews was tazken from the Andrews-
Fletchers Charge. Soapstone Church then became apart of %he Andrews-
Soapsfone Charge, & charge it has been apart of to this daye.




The Closing of Soepstone Church
1939-1950

No specific date cen be documented about what year that
Soapstone Church closed. Fo records contain any such date.
According to Kethleen FNippoer, a member of Soapstone Church, the
year the church closed was 1939. Reasors for the closing &£ the
church are somewhat vague. According to persors that were menm-
bers of the church a2t the time, the main reason that Soapstone
Church closed was aaéause nany that had supported the church
faithfully in the past had either died or moved away from the
communitye.

About 10 years later, efforts began for the reopening of
Soapstpne Church under the pastoral leadership of Rev. George
legill, pastor of Pleasant Grove Church, and Rev. F., G. Nees,
pastor of the Andrews-Fleichers Charge. The conmunity surround-
ing the church wzs canvassed, seeking to find persons thet would
be willing to be members of Soapstore Church if it was reopered.
These efforts came to & climax in 1956 when Soapstone Church was

reopened and placed on the Andrews-Fletchers Charge.
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Pastors of the Church

Very little is known z2bout the pastors of Soapstore Church
es irdividuals. Certainly as mirnisters of the Gospel they Bawp
served the Church and its Lord well. Certainly it is through Gods
use of them that persors have given their lives to Jesus Christ and
joined Sbépstone Church. Followirg is a partial Xist of the pastors
who have served Soapstone Church since its beginning. Pastors beforé

1869 are not listed because that irformation was rot available,

1869~18T1 J+ Jo Benn
1871-1873 A. D. Betts
1873-1874 J. B. Thompson
1874-1875 T, B. Beeks
1875-1878 ' Le Jo Holden
1878-1881 Lermon Shell
1881-1883 Le L. Nash
1883-1885 . . ' Je. Do Bule
1885-1888 P. Greening
1888-1892 “' B, C, Allred
1892-1896 K. D. Holmes
1896-1898 Jo. M. Ashdby
1898-1889 - ' ' | "~ M., M. McFarlend

1899-1903 _ No Lo Seabolt




Years of service Pastor

1903%~1905 G.R. Rood
1205-1909 G.T. Simmons
1909-1910 - J.M, Marlowe
1910-1913 Philip Greening
1913-1214 J.W. Martin
1914-1917 L.E. Sawyer
1817-1921 J.C. Williams
1921-1922 H.H., Mitchell
1922=1924 M.G., Erwin
1924-1926 S.J. Starnes
1926-1927 P.H. Fields
1927-1928 to be supplied
1928-1931 D.R. Hunt
1931-1933 F.F. Loftin
1933-183%4 A,.C., Thompson
1934-1935 F.D. Hedden
1935-1937 M.C. Wiklerson
1937-1039 W.K. Barrs
Hfren'is closed form 1939-1950 ng*fﬁ ol
1950-1952 F.G. Nees
1952-1953 Eben Taylor
1953-1954 ~ Eben - Taylor
1954-1955 Thomas Turmen
1955-1956 .,  John Reed
1956-1957 & : - Nathan H., Byrd
1957-1959 . 2 Henry E.Riley, Jr.

1959-1961 . . M.R,.Spears; .



Years of service

Pastor

1961-1963 ' Paul C. Gentry

" 1963-1965 Hermen N, Werd, Jr.
1965-1968 C.S. Tyson |
1968-1969 D.E. Earnhardt - Denny VWise
1968-1970 Tarry L. Kimel
19701972 John W, Ruth
1972-1975 David B. FMerriman
1975-1979 | " Randy I. Wall
1979-1981 ' Mark Nanney
1081-1986 James R. Huskins
1986~ 1941

Hope Morgan Ward

(497~ Lesnane & Fairise




Church membership

Prom the origin of Soepstore Church to 1900, membership at
Soapstone Church was somewhet sizeable., Accordirg to church
records, church membership in 1883 was 107. However, the pastor
of Soapstone Church in 1882, L. L. Nesh, reports that a large
number of persons on the church rollé do not attend church ®or
do anything else religious.”" BRev. Nash also reported that femily
prayer is not a2s good as it sho@ld be in the church ard that few
male members pray im public. BRBev, Nash reported inm 1883 that some
of the members of Soapstone Church drink liquor. Nash claimed that
the drinking of liquor was "the worst evil with which we have to
contend.®

In the 18008, severzl families were predonmirant on the rolls
of Soapstone Church-- Thompson, Holloway, Lloore, Bledsoce, Pope,
Byrum, Lassiter, Tilley, Pool, King, Nipper, and Carpenter. Oﬂe
of the most interesting church members during this periocd wes &

#. C. Bledsoe. He served aé & church steward in 1882 ard as &
church trustee in 1883} IE 1883, Y. C. Bledsoe, along with V. L.
Bledsoe made a resolution at the Quarterly Confererce to banish
liguor from the church., That szme year, W, C. Bledsoe helped ledd
a revival at Soapstone Church that brought 14 éonversiOns.

Soapstone church membership in the early 1500s seems to be
" in a stete of change. Church membership in 1904 was 63 members
while in 1907 it was 45 members. Femiles thet dominzted the church
membership from 1900 to 1932 include Thoupsor, Nipper, Pool, ﬁake-
field, Brirkley, Boss, Layton, Bleckwood, Vatkins, and lcGee. .




Church membership in 1938 a2t Socapstone Church was 38 members,
Common nemes found upon the rolls of the Church during this
year include Byrum, King, FNipper, Layton, Thompson, ard Ross.
46 persons were members of the church ir 1956, Family nanes
found upon the roll durirg this year were Fipper, Bunn, %etkins,
Poole, JdJohnson, arnd Layton. |

The peak of Soapstore Church membership irn the 1200's wes
feached in 1960 when the church had €2 wmembers. In 1278, the

church has & membership of 51. Commorn mazzes fournd upor the

rclls in 1578 include Nipper, Ayscue, Gadd, Bunn, arnd Chetham,




Church Buildings

According to Ina Ayscue, there have been 3 buildirgs that
‘served Soapstore Church for worship services. For some time
when the church was only a plece for ceamp meetings, no buildirg
wzs on the church property. The first buildirg used by Soapstore
Church for worship was 2 log church.
_ The second 5uilding to serve Soapstore Church was built by
1900. It was a wide buiiding in which church pews stretthed zll
the way across the sanctuary. As was the usual custom during that
period, the men sat on the right side of the chureh and the Zadies
sat on the left side. As many churches during that period, Soap-
store Church had an ™Amen™ cormer vhich is said to be to the front
of the church at the side of the pulpite. |
The third church buildirg was built with lumber taken from
the church grounds. Headirg that building project was & Mr. Turner.
01ld church records make seversl references to the church build-
ing in several ways. Quarterly Conference records from 1890 state
the Soapstone Church bmilding was in good cordition, free from
debt, and worth about $600. BRecords for the yeer 1891 state that
the condition of the church building was fair and velued at $500.
In 1893, the church building is said to be in good condition and
worth about §500., Church records indicate that the Soapstone Church
building was in worse condition in the early 1900s. At & Quarterly
Conference held om Qctober 13, 1907, it was voted to build a new
church building &t Soapstone. However, leter recorés make no r&:e:-

‘ence to & new building beirg bgi;#.-.zhe7phu:ch building must




8%till been in poor condition in 1908. No worship services were
held in Soepstone Church dufing January end February, 1908, because
_ ‘the weather was too cold to worship in-the dilapidated church
building. Church records also state that the first church
conference for 1968 was not held till June because of cold wezther
and the dilapidated church building. .
Efforts to remodel the Socapstone Church building began in
the laterl960s and early 1970s. Iy 1975, portions of the ckurch
weré carpeted and the floor of the church was refinished. A
steeple was added to the church in 1976. Later that year, a
mobile home was giveﬁ to the church through the generosity of
» Mr. and Mrs. Curtis Fipper. Iﬁ 1978, eltar rails were added to
' éhe sanctuary. WMr. Ernest Nipper has abdly guided the church in

these remodeling projects.
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\ Church Giving

Nothing can make orne more aware of inflation ard the risirg
cost of iiving than looking at old finencial reports. This is
certairly the case in looking 2t the giving at_Soapsténe Church
irn its history. In the 1860%*s and 1890%s, the cornference assess-
nent of the circuit renged from $140 in 1B84 to $104 in 1897.
Pastors salery paid by Soapstone Church was about 320 in 1882,
At that time, Soapstone Ghnfch was one of the strongest churches
in giving on the Bbleéville Circuit. Pastors salary peid by the
circuit in the 1890°%s ranged from $725 a year in 1893 to $600
a yesr in 1897, |

In the early 1900°%s, giving 2t the church appeazrs to have
begn somewhat lowere For example, Soapstone Church reised only
$101.51 in 1906. .Gonference assessmerts for the church in 1506
were $39 while the church peid $90 for the pastors and presiding
elders salary that yeare.

In more recent years, the giving at Soapstone Church has
risen. Amount paid the paétor'insalary ranges from $600 in
1960 to $1219 in 1977. Total money raised ranges from $1639
in 1960 to $533T7 in 1977.
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